1963

Walker Bank & Trust Company v. Spencer C. Taylor : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is a declaratory judgment action brought by Walker Bank & Trust Company to have declared illegal the establishment by the State Bank of Provo of a branch bank on the Brigham Young University campus in Provo, Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was decided on the merits on facts stipulated by all of the parties. The trial court granted judgment in favor of plaintiff on the ground that under the provisions of section 7-3-6, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, the existence of the defendant bank in Provo precludes the establishment by it of a branch bank in that city. The court granted injunctive relief to the plaintiff, but, on stipulation of the parties, suspended the injunction during the time within which this appeal is taken, and until the final determination of the appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The defendants seek reversal of the judgment, and a judgment in their favor. They also seek dissolution of the injunctive relief granted by the lower court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Walker Bank & Trust Company, a Utah banking corporation, having its head office in Salt Lake City and some thirteen branches in the State of Utah, including a branch in Provo, Utah, seeks to have declared illegal a branch bank established on the Brigham Young University campus in Provo, Utah, by State Bank of Provo, a Utah banking corporation, having its only other and principal banking house in Provo, Utah.

Provo City is not a city of the first class. At all times material there were located and operating in

Provo the defendant, State Bank of Provo, a branch of plaintiff, Walker Bank & Trust Company, and a branch of First Security Bank of Utah, N.A. On October 15, 1962, defendant State Bank of Provo, as required by section 7-3-6, Utah Code Annotated 1953, filed an application with the defendant State Bank Commissioner to establish a branch on or near the Brigham Young University campus in Provo, Utah. On October 25, 1962, also in accordance with the provisions of section 7-3-6, the application was approved by the defendant Bank Commissioner and the Governor. The branch was opened for business on December 20, 1962. No protest to the application was filed by plaintiff, and no appeal to the State Board of Examiners, as required by section 7-1-26, Utah Code Annotated 1953, was taken by plaintiff. Instead, this action was filed in November 1962. Other pertinent facts as set forth in the Stipulation of Facts are referred to in the course of the argument.

This case presents the basic question of whether the applicable Utah statute—section 7-3-6, Utah Code Annotated 1953 — prohibits the establishment of a branch by a bank in the same city in which its principal banking house is located, particularly where, as here, the only other banking facilities in the city are branches of banks having their head offices elsewhere. Also presented is the ancillary question as to whether plaintiff has the necessary standing to raise the basic question.

ARGUMENT

I.

A. SECTION 7-3-6 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953, DOES NOT PROHIBIT THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A BRANCH BANK IN A CITY OF THE SECOND CLASS WHERE THERE IS ALREADY LOCATED ONE OR MORE BRANCH BANKS.

The plaintiff's principal argument below was that the defendant bank could not establish a branch in Provo because plaintiff already had a branch there. It argued that a "branch" is a "bank" within the meaning of the first sentence of the fourth paragraph of section 7-3-6. That sentence reads as follows:

"Except in cities of the first class, or within unincorporated areas of a county in which a city of the first class is located, no branch bank shall be established in any city or town in which is located a *bank or banks*, state or national regularly transacting a customary banking business, unless the bank seeking to establish such branch shall take over an existing bank." (Emphasis supplied.)

It is defendants' position that the legislature carefully distinguished between "banks" — meaning unit banks or the principal offices of banking institutions — and "branch banks" — meaning branch offices of banking institutions. The distinction has been clearly understood by the Attorney General of the State of Utah

and has been followed by the Bank Commissioner of Utah and the Comptroller of the Currency in their administration of the law since it was enacted.

The defendants urge this court to rule that since defendant was the only *bank* regularly transacting a banking business in Provo at the time its application was made and its permit granted, the existence of plaintiff's branch in Provo did not preclude the establishment of defendant's branch there.

The cardinal principle of statutory construction is determination of the legislative intent. *Rogers v. Wagstaff*, 120 Utah 136, 232 P.2d 766, 768 (1951) and cases there cited. The intention of the Utah legislature in enacting the sentence above quoted can be discerned from well settled canons of construction which are imputed to have been within the knowledge of the legislature, which is presumed to be conversant with the established rules of statutory construction. *Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad Co. v. Cram*, 85 Neb. 586, 123 N.W. 1045, aff'd 228 U.S. 70 (1912).

The sentence above quoted was intended to express a prohibition; it provides ". . . no branch bank shall be established . . ." in a particular place. If that particular place was where a branch bank was located, the term "branch bank" would have been used to describe that place. Instead, the legislature said "no branch bank shall be established in any city or town in which is located a *bank* . . ." obviously intending to distinguish the latter term, "bank," from the term "branch bank"

it previously used. Had the legislature intended to include within the prohibition a place where a branch bank was located, it would have inserted words to make that portion of the sentence read, “. . . no branch bank shall be established in any city or town in which is located a bank *or branch*, . . .” The legislature could have inserted those words, but did not.

In striving to ascertain the legislative intent, the court must look to the entire statute and its use of terms throughout. *Christensen v. Slawter*, 173 Cal. App. 2d 325, 343 P.2d 341 (1959). From a reading of the whole of section 7-3-6, it is clear that the term “bank” when used unconnected with the word “branch” means a unit bank. Thus in the first paragraph of the section the language “the business of every bank shall be conducted only at its banking house . . .” must refer to a unit bank and not to a branch. In the second paragraph the language “. . . any bank having a paid-in capital and surplus of not less than \$60,000 may establish and operate one branch . . .” must refer to a unit bank and not to a branch. In the third paragraph, where the intent was to include both unit banks and branches, the legislature used the language, “All banking houses and branches . . .” In the seventh paragraph, the term “branch” was used four times to distinguish a branch bank from a unit bank designated “bank.” In the eighth paragraph, the legislature said, “No branch shall be established at a location outside the corporate limits of a city or town in such close proximity to an established bank *or branch* as to unreasonably interfere with

the business thereof.” If the legislature had not intended a distinction it would have needed only to use the word “bank.”

The conclusion is unavoidable that the legislature intended the word “bank” to mean unit bank.

This interpretation was adopted by the Attorney General in advising the Bank Commissioner in the administration of the statute. In 1956, he was asked by the Bank Commissioner, “May more than one branch bank be established in a city of the third class, when no unit bank is there in existence?” In an opinion dated December 20, 1956, No. 56-142, the Attorney General ruled:

“It is our opinion that the foregoing provision would not prevent the establishment of more than one branch bank in a city of the third class, if a unit bank is not there located. We base our result upon an interpretation of the word ‘bank’ or ‘banks’ as used in that section, concluding that such word is synonymous with a ‘unit bank’ and does not include a branch thereof.

“In addition to the provision noted, Section 7-3-6 in several instances, uses the term ‘bank’ to connote an institution, separate and distinct from, and not inclusive of, a ‘branch.’ For example:

‘With the consent of the bank commissioner and the approval of the governor, *any bank* having a paid-in capital and surplus of not less than \$60,000 *may establish and operate one branch* for the transaction of its business; provided, that for each additional branch estab-

lished there shall be paid in an additional \$60,000 (capital and surplus).

* * *

‘Any bank desiring to establish one or more branches or offices shall file a written application therefor in such form and containing such information as the bank commissioner may require.

* * *

‘No branch shall be established at a location outside the corporate limits of a city or town in such close proximity to an established bank or branch as to unreasonably interfere with the business thereof.’ (Emphasis added.)

“In addition to the foregoing use of the word bank and branch in the disjunctive, the very definition of the term ‘branch’ sustains our conclusion. Section 7-3-6 defines branch as follows:

‘The term ‘branch’ as used in this act shall be held to include any branch bank, branch office, branch agency, additional office, or any branch place of business at which deposits are received or checks paid or money lent.’

“Certain policy considerations are also persuasive. First, there is no limitation on the number of unit banks that may be established in a third class city as long as the establishment does not unreasonably interfere with an established business, and the Banking Commissioner gives the necessary approval of the Articles of Incorporation pursuant to Section 7-1-26, U.C.A. 1953. Similarly, there is no legal limitation on the number of branches that might be established in the type municipality under consideration if an existing bank of five years’ operation is acquired by another banking institution for the purpose of

establishing a branch. See Section 7-3-6, U.C.A. 1953, as amended. It would therefore appear that the Legislature did not consider the presence of more than one branch in a city of the third class inherently against public interest, nor disadvantageous to the competing banking branch per se.

“Second, if Section 7-3-6, U.C.A. 1953, as amended, is so construed that only one branch will be permitted in an incorporated area other than a city of the first class, even though no unit bank has been established, then it is conceivable that such municipality might reach a population growth, which one branch could not efficiently handle, and adequate service could only result when a unit bank was established or the city became one of the first class and additional branches were permitted. Such a construction would seem contrary to legislative intent.

“Third, in our opinion the establishment of branch banks is justified on the theory that public advantage will be subserved if a banking institution creates additional offices or agencies for its *existing* customers, and thus provides more convenient and efficient service. When a unit bank has been established in a city of the third class, it presumably can service the needs of the municipal residents, and there would not be sufficient reason to permit a branch to compete with the established unit, the presence of the former interfering with the latter. Hence the statutory prohibition in Section 7-3-6. It is conceivable that two branches could under certain facts be justified in a third class city, sans a unit bank, on the theory that each was to service *existing* customers of the parent banks in other locations.”

The interpretation urged by the defendants is not only consistent with the statutory language and the legislative scheme of bank regulation, but it is the interpretation followed by the Bank Commissioner and the Comptroller of the Currency in their administration of the statute.

Administrative interpretation of a statute does not avail to overcome a statute so plain in its command as to leave nothing for construction, but consistent administrative practice continuing unchallenged for many years may not be overturned even if the scope of the statutory command is indefinite or doubtful. *Norwegian Nitrogen Prod. Co. v. U.S.*, 228 U.S. 294, 313 (1932).

Under the provision of Title 7 of the Utah Code, the Bank Commissioner is charged with the administration of the banking laws of the state. He is expressly vested with authority to administer the regulations as to branches in the granting of permits to establish them. Similarly, the Comptroller of the Currency is bound by the provisions of the Utah law in granting permits to national banks to establish branches in Utah. 12 U.S.C. § 36(c) provides in part:

“A national banking association may, with the approval of the Comptroller of the Currency, establish and operate new branches: (1) within the limits of the city, town or village in which said association is situated, if such establishment and operation are at the time expressly authorized to State banks by the laws of the State in question; and (2) at any point within the State in which said association is situated, if such estab-

lishment and operation are at the time authorized to State banks by the statute law of the State in question by language specifically granting such authority affirmatively and not merely by implication or recognition, and subject to the restrictions as to location imposed by the law of the State of State banks.”

Both public officials have consistently followed the interpretation of 7-3-6 upon which defendant State Bank of Provo here relies. It is noted in paragraph 9 and 10 of the stipulation:

“ . . . On or about November 9, 1961, the Bank Commissioner authorized the establishment of a branch of the Beehive State Bank in the City of Tooele, not a city of the first class, at a time when a branch of First Security Bank of Utah, N.A., was regularly transacting a customary banking business in said city.

“10. The Comptroller of the Currency granted an application of First Security Bank of Utah, N.A., in the year 1955, for the establishment of a branch by it in Murray City, not a city of the first class, at a time when a branch of Walker Bank & Trust Company was regularly transacting a customary banking business in said City and said Comptroller of the Currency granted an application of First Security Bank of Utah, N.A., in the year 1957 for the establishment of a branch by it in South Ogden, not a city of the first class, at a time when a branch of Commercial Security Bank and a branch of Bank of Utah were regularly transacting a customary banking business in South Ogden. On January 21, 1963, the Comptroller of the Currency granted authority to the First National Bank of Logan to

establish a branch bank in Logan, not a city of the first class. At the time when said authority was granted, a branch of plaintiff Walker Bank & Trust Company and a branch of First Security Bank of Utah, N.A., were regularly transacting a customary banking business in Logan.”

We have already adverted to the opinion of the Attorney General supporting the interpretation followed by the Bank Commissioner and the Comptroller. This interpretation of the Attorney General adds weight to that of the administrative officers. In a similar situation, the Wyoming Supreme Court, in upholding the administrative interpretation of a sales tax provision against that of a taxpayer, stated:

“This construction of the law which has received the approval of at least two of the chief law officers of the state has been followed by the board as the department of the state government charged with the duty of administering the Act. . . . Four sessions of the legislature of the state have occurred since the construction of the law above announced was transmitted to and followed by the Board and no subsequent statute has been enacted which in anywise interferes with the views thus presented so far as we are informed.” *Walgren Co. v. State Board of Equalization*, 62 Wyo. 297, 166 P.2d 960, 963 (1946).

A California court recently took the same view:

“Consistent administrative construction of a statute over many years, particularly when it originated with those charged with putting the statutory machinery into effect, is entitled to great weight and will not be overturned unless

clearly erroneous.” *DiGiorgio Fruit Corp. v. Dept. of Employment*, 56 Cal. 2d 62, 362 P.2d 487, 491 (1961).

In *State Bank of Kenmore v. Bell*, 197 Misc. 97, 96 N.Y. 2d 851 (1950), the defendant, Banking Board, approved the application of Marine Trust Co. to open and occupy a branch bank in the town of Tonawanda, New York. The plaintiff, which had its principal place of business in that town brought an action to review the determination made by the defendant. Plaintiff cited numerous items of error and illegality in defendant’s action, among them that defendant had misinterpreted the law in that Tonawanda was unincorporated and the law did not permit branch banks to be established in such villages. In dismissing the plaintiff’s petition the court said that some fourteen branch banks had been authorized and opened in unincorporated villages in New York since the law was amended in 1934 to permit branch banking. The court held that if the law contained an ambiguity such practical construction of the statute by those charged with the duty of its application and enforcement over such an extended period of time could not be ignored.

Our statute here is not even ambiguous!

Other cases holding that administrative interpretation of a statute should be upheld or that legislative acquiescence for such interpretation may be inferred from its silence over a period of years are: *Oliver v. Spitz*, 76 Nev. 5, 348 P.2d 158 (1960); *State v. Dept.*

of *Transportation of Washington*, 33 Wash. 2d 448, 206 P.2d 456, 477 (1949); *State ex rel York v. Board of Commissioners*, 28 Wash. 2d 891, 184 P.2d 577, 590 (1947); *Guillot v. State Highway Comm. of Montana*, 102 Mont. 157, 56 P.2d 1072, 1075 (1936); *F.T.C. v. Bunte Brothers, Inc.*, 312 U.S. 349, 351 (1940); *U.S. v. American Trucking Assoc.*, 310 U.S. 534, 549 (1939).

Section 7-3-6 has been amended and re-enacted in 1953, 1957 and 1963 without material change in the sentence under consideration. In light of its consistent and notorious administrative interpretation by both state and national supervisory agencies, it must be concluded that the legislature has, at the very least, acquiesced therein.

The doctrine of re-enactment has long been recognized by the courts. As early as 1908 the United States Supreme Court ruled that the re-enactment by Congress without change of a statute which had previously received long continued executive construction was an adoption by Congress of such a construction. *U.S. v. Cerecado Hermanos*, 209 U.S. 337 (1908).

The doctrine has been generally applied in state as well as federal courts to all fields of administrative action, whether formalized by regulations or merely recognized in an administrative function and decision. Thus the Supreme Court of Michigan said it was the well settled general rule that legislative re-enactment after such interpretation, "which must be presumed to have

been known to the legislature," carried with it the sanction of legislative approval of such conclusions, *Chrysler Corp. v. Smith*, 297 Mich. 438, 298 N.W. 87, 135 A.L.R. 900, 907 (1941). Similarly, the Texas Supreme Court said it was a very well established rule that where a statute of doubtful construction has been construed by executive officers of the state charged with its execution, and it has subsequently been re-enacted without substantial change of language, it will continue to receive the same construction. *Stanford v. Butler*, 142 Texas 692, 181 SW2d 269, 153 A.L.R. 1054, 1063 (1944). Even while declaring void an administrative rule based upon a statute which had subsequently been re-enacted, the California Supreme Court took great care to point out that the administrative construction of long standing could only be overturned after a finding that the statute involved was clear, unambiguous and required no amplification in its original writing. *Whitcomb Hotel v. California Employment Commission*, 24 Cal.2d. 753, 151 P.2d 233, 236 (1944).

The defendants submit that the language in dispute, having been interpreted consistently by the official charged with its administration over a period of years, and having been enacted and re-enacted unchanged by the legislature with knowledge of that interpretation, should be construed by this court in accordance with that administrative interpretation.

The 1963 legislature had before it amendments to the banking laws, including 7-3-6, and re-enacted the

sentence under consideration without change. If there was any doubt as to the correctness of the interpretation of the Attorney General and the Bank Commissioner, of the State of Utah, as well as that of the Comptroller, particularly in view of the pendency of this action, corrective action could have been taken by the legislature. None was. Its action in re-enacting 7-3-6 without amending this sentence must be considered as a particular re-affirmation of the interpretation under which the administrative agencies have proceeded.

B. PLAINTIFF'S OFFICE IN PROVO IS A BRANCH AND PLAINTIFF'S METHOD OF ACQUISITION OF THAT BRANCH GIVES IT NO SPECIAL STANDING TO CONTEST DEFENDANT'S BRANCH.

Plaintiff argued below: (1) That a bank is a bank no matter how many offices it has and, alternatively, (2) that plaintiff's Provo branch, because it was acquired by a merger, has somehow retained some characteristics of a unit bank—at least sufficient characteristics to prevent defendant from establishing its Brigham Young University branch.

It is submitted that neither of these arguments is sound.

Section 7-3-6 provides at the outset:

“The business of every bank shall be conducted only at its banking house and every bank shall receive deposits and pay checks only at its

banking house *except as hereinafter provided.*"
(Emphasis supplied.)

The section then goes on to authorize the establishment of branches under certain circumstances and sets forth the procedure to be followed in obtaining authorization from the Bank Commissioner to do so.

In 1911 the predecessor to this section was enacted. Chapter 25, Section 32, Laws of Utah, 1911, provides:

"The business of every banking institution shall be conducted only at its banking house, and no bank in this State or any loan, trust or guaranty company or trust company conducting a banking business, or any officer, director or agent thereof, shall open, establish or maintain any branch bank or office, and shall receive deposits and pay checks only at its banking house."

In 1933, the section was amended so that the first sentence of the statute enacted in 1911 read as it does today. That brief history makes it clear that from 1911 to 1933 a bank could have only one office—at its banking house. Since the adoption in 1933 of the provision, "except as hereinafter provided" and the thereafter provision of section 7-3-6 authorizing the establishment of branches, a bank may establish other offices — branches — if the statutory conditions are met and the statutory procedures are followed.

One of the authorized statutory procedures to establish a branch is for a bank to acquire another bank by purchase or merger. That is the procedure followed by the plaintiff Walker Bank & Trust Company in

establishing its branch office in Provo. Walker Bank has only one banking house—Second South and Main Street in Salt Lake City, Utah. It has thirteen branches elsewhere. One of these is in Provo. But its branch there does not mean plaintiff is located in Provo. *Michigan National Bank v. Gidney*, 237 F.2d 762 (D.C. Cir. (1956)).

We do not contend that plaintiff's Provo branch is a different and separate entity in Provo. We do contend that its office in Provo is a "branch" as defined in the statute. Section 7-3-6 states:

"The term 'branch' as used in this act shall be held to include any branch bank, branch office, branch agency, additional office, or any branch place of business at which deposits are received or checks paid or money lent."

Inasmuch as Walker Bank & Trust Company's office in Provo and that of First Security are "branches" as distinguished from "banks" as the terms are used and defined in section 7-3-6, their existence does not preclude defendant State Bank of Provo from establishing its branch in Provo.

Plaintiff's alternative argument is that, somehow, because its Provo branch was acquired by merger with the Farmers' and Merchants' bank, the result is an hermaphrodite animal—a branch with a unit bank's special protections and requirements. It is submitted that Utah law recognizes no such species and that the merging parties cannot create one by contract. Nor did they. The stipulated record here shows:

(a) The merger agreement provides Walker Bank & Trust Company is the surviving corporation (Para. 2 of the merger agreement) ;

(b) Walker Bank & Trust Company's office in Provo is designated as "Walker Bank & Trust Company, Farmers' and Merchants' Branch" (Para. 7 and 9 of the merger agreement) ;

(c) The separate corporate existence of Farmers' and Merchants' Bank ceased with the effective date of the merger (Para. 10 of the merger agreement) ;

(d) The merger agreement provides the principal office of the surviving corporation shall be located in Salt Lake County (Para. 19 of the merger agreement) ;

(e) By letter dated October 24, 1955, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System approved the establishment of a branch by Walker Bank & Trust Company at Nine North Third West Streets in Provo, Utah.

Plaintiff also argued that section 7-6-7, U.C.A. 1953 gives plaintiff Walker Bank & Trust Company "the right to protect its [Farmers and Merchants' Bank] status and competitive situation" inasmuch as "Such rights survive the statutory merger of Farmers' and Merchants' Bank with and into plaintiff." Plaintiff misconstrues the purpose of the section of the statute it cites. It is a part of chapter 6 of Title 7 dealing with mergers, consolidations, and conversions of banks. Conversion is a change of a bank from a state to a national

charter or vice versa (section 7-6-1 (3) U.C.A. 1953). In dealing both with the “resulting bank” from a merger and the “converting bank” from a conversion, the legislature provided that the surviving bank should have “all the rights, powers and duties” and the use of the name of its predecessor. See section 7-6-7, A, B and C and section 7-6-8, C and D. For both cases the statutory purpose is obvious. Banks hold a plethora of legal papers—negotiable instruments of every nature, mortgages, pledges, assignments, etc. The statutory provisions are to make clear that the surviving entity succeeds to all of these rights and powers without the necessity of execution of a multitude of documents of transfer or the recording of assignments of numerous mortgages; cf. 12 U.S.C. 214(b) dealing with the statute of a national bank converted to a state bank.

Plaintiff’s contention also does violence to the clear purpose of the provisions of section 7-3-6 dealing with the establishment of branches and the protection of unit banks, not branch banking systems. It would indeed be subverting the legislative intent to find that a unit bank disappears upon merger into a branch bank system, but sufficient memory lingers on with the survivor to make the branch a unit bank when it serves the system’s purpose.

Section 7-6-7 refers to “rights, powers and duties.” Can the protective provisions of 7-3-6 for unit banks be a “right” or “power” which Walker Bank may waive when First Security established a branch in Murray, but

which it may exercise in Provo when defendant State Bank of Provo does likewise? *Union Trust Co. v. Simmons*, 211 P.2d 190 would say not.

Far from being irrelevant, the facts in Murray and Provo are parallel and pertinent. Walker's branch there was acquired by merger. The Comptroller of the Currency, required by federal statute, 12 U.S.C. § 36 (c), to conform to state law in the granting of branches outside the home city, in 1955 granted a permit to First Security Bank of Utah, N.A., to establish a branch in Murray at a time when plaintiff's branch office in Murray was regularly transacting customary banking business in said City. If plaintiff had a "right" to exclude branches by virtue of the provision of section 7-6-7 U.C.A. 1953, it had one in Murray in 1955. It did nothing.

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