1963

L. Doyle Nunley v. Stan Katz Real Estate, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Judgment was entered in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendants on the 3rd day of December, 1962, for the sum of \$1,410.00, \$390.33 attorneys fees and costs. (R. 13). Defendants' objections to findings of fact, and conclusions of law and decree were filed on the 14th day of December, 1962 (R. 18). Amended findings of fact, conclusions of law and judgment were signed and entered on the 2nd day of January, 1963 (R. 22). Notice of appeal was filed by the de-

fendant "Stan Katz, individually" "from the judgment entered . . . on January 2, 1963", on the 2nd day of January, 1963 (R. 24). A designation of record on appeal was filed by the defendant Stan Katz on the 8th day of February, 1963 (R. 25).

The action was brought to recover from the defendants the amount due and unpaid on an earnest money receipt and option to purchase, an instrument in writing, having been introduced as Exhibit P-1 by the plaintiff.

ARGUMENT

Point 1. The appeal of the defendant Stan Katz should be dismissed because the judgment appealed from was void.

Rule 59 (e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides :

"A motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be served not later than 10 days after the entry of the judgment."

The motion in this case was not filed nor served within 10 days (R. 18) and there was therefore no jurisdiction in the Court to amend the judgment and the judgment entered on the 2nd day of January, 1963 (R. 21) was void.

In the case of *In Re Bundy's Estate*, 121 U. 299, 241 P2 462, at page 310 Utah Reports, citing Rule 6 (b), the Court said: "The Court . . . may not extend the time for taking any action under Rule . . . 59 (b)

... except to the extent and under the conditions stated in them.”

The attorney for the defendant in the last paragraph on page 11 of his brief seems to admit not only that the judgment of January 2nd, 1963, was the judgment appealed from, but that the said judgment was and is void. It reads: “It should be noted that the appeal was taken from the void judgment of January 2, 1963, which awarded plaintiff judgment as against defendant Stan Katz only.”

Concluding the paragraph the defendants’ brief reads: “If there is anything before the Court at all it is the judgment of December 3, 1962, wherein Plaintiff was awarded an identical judgment as against both Defendants, who are in fact one and the same person.”

Rule 73 (b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is correctly quoted on page 10 of the defendants’ brief as follows: “The notice of appeal shall specify the parties taking the appeal; shall designate the judgment or part thereof appealed from; and shall designate that the appeal is taken to the Supreme Court.”

Following is the defendants notice of appeal in full: “Notice is hereby given that Stan Katz, individually, as defendant above, hereby appeals to the Supreme Court of the State of Utah from the judgment entered in the above captioned action on January 2, 1963 wherein plaintiff was awarded judgment against defendant Stan Katz in the sum of \$1,410.00, \$390.33

attorneys fee and \$26.10 costs. Dated this 2nd day of January, 1963. Wendell P. Ables, Attorney for defendant Stan Katz.”

Nothing could be more definite nor more explicit. The party is specified as an individual, the judgment appealed from is designated and the Court. The judgment of January 2nd is of the defendants own making. How could there have been an oversight?

Paragraph 6 of the defendants objections to findings of fact, conclusions of law and decree states: (R. 15): “Said Decree purports to give judgment to plaintiff against defendant Stan Katz Real Estate, Inc., for the balance of a purchase price under a contract where said defendant does not appear as purchaser.” And now, in his brief he says that they are the same person.

The defendants appeal was taken from a void judgment. The appeal should be dismissed.

Point 2: Failure to serve and file a designation of the record on appeal is ground for dismissing the defendants appeal.

The defendant did not serve nor file a designation of the record on appeal within ten days as prescribed by Rule 75 (a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which is grounds within the sound discretion of the Court for the dismissal of the defendants appeal. Holton vs. Holton, 121 U 451, 243 P2 438.

Point 3. The evidence supports the Court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of December 3, 1962.

The Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase herein referred to as Exhibit P-1, to enforce the terms of which the plaintiff brought this action, provides among other things:

“The total purchase price of \$12,500.00, shall be payable as follows: \$1,000.00, which represents the aforescribed deposit, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged by you, \$1,000.00, when seller approves sale, Loan and or closing costs (line 17) on delivery of deed or final contract of sale which shall be on or before Feb. 28, 1962, and Mtg. amt. each month commencing on mtg. requires, buyer to secure \$10,500.00 mortgage loan and apply proceeds to this purpose above referred to loan and or closing costs to be paid seller (line 14) until the balance of \$10,500.00 together with interest is paid.”

“If either party fails so to do, he agrees to pay all expenses of enforcing this agreement, or of any right arising out of the breach thereof, including a reasonable attorneys fee.”

“The seller agrees in consideration of the efforts of the agent in procuring a purchaser, to pay the said agent a commission equal to the minimum recommended by the Salt Lake Real Estate Board. In the event seller has entered into a listing contract with any other agent and said contract is presently effective, this paragraph shall be of no force or effect.”

With reference to the purchase price, here is some of the evidence that seems to have been taken into consideration by the Court in finding the issues in favor of the plaintiff, from Mr. Nunley, the plaintiff:

Q. I am going to show you what for the purpose of identification has been marked Plaintiff's Exhibit P-1 and ask you if you can tell us what it is. Identify it.

A. Yes. This is the earnest money that Mr. Stan Katz and I agreed upon. Mr. Stan Katz agreed in his own handwriting here to pay me \$10,500.00, less loan costs for the house at 1238 Mission Road. (R. 30 Line 3).

Q. Is there a balance due and owing?

A. Yes.

Q. And what is that?

A. \$1,500.00, less loan costs. (R. 31 line 53).

Q. What were the closing costs to Home Benefit?

A. I believe they were \$90.00, \$89.00, \$91.00, \$89.90, or \$90.90, roughly \$90.00. (R. 60 line 20).

On re-direct examination:

Q. Mr. Nunley, did you at any time agree with Mr. Katz that you will accept an amount less than \$10,500.00, less the loan costs, for that property?

A. No. (R. 123 line 3).

With reference to the matter of a real estate commission. Recross examination of Mr. Nunley by Mr. Bradford:

Q. I will show you Exhibit P-1, Mr. Nunley, and ask you to show me where on Exhibit P-1 it says that you would not have to pay a real estate commission?

A. It indicates here the buyer is to secure a \$10,500.00 loan and apply the proceeds on the purchase of this home, less loan costs.

Q. It does not say anything about a real estate commission?

A. No, it does not. (R. 123 line 23).

From the direct examination of Mr. Badi Mahmood, the agent of the defendants:

A. I was present at the time Mr. Katz wrote this, and he provided to Mr. Nunley, gave this \$10,500.00 as a net figure, less the loan costs. I was present at the time they discussed it.

Q. Mr. Katz said that in so many words?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Is it written up that way in the agreement itself?

The Court: Well, it is.

Q. Now, you would have gotten a real estate commission for this transaction if there had been any?

A. Yes, sir. I would have gotten 50 per cent.

Q. Did you actually get any?

A. No, sir.

Q. No real estate commission from Stan Katz?

A. No, sir. (R. 133).

Q. (By Mr. Bradford on cross examination.)
Let me finish my question. Are you saying
you would be entitled to 3 percent of the sales
price, or 11 percent of the commission?

A. 50 percent of all the commission earned,
if there was any commission earned. In this
case there wasn't." (R. 13 line 22).

With reference to the matter of attorneys fees,
paragraph three of the pre-trial order provides as fol-
lows:

"It was likewise stipulated at the time of Pretrial
in the event either party hereto is entitled to recover
that the matter of attorneys fees may be determined by
the Court." (R. 9).

The Court properly found from the preponderance
of the evidence that the defendants were indebted to
the plaintiff and that the plaintiff was entitled to judg-
ment against the defendants for the sum of \$1,410.00
with interest, for \$390.33 attorneys fees and for costs.
(R. 13).

CONCLUSION

The defendant Stan Katz individually has brought
this appeal from a judgment that is void "(admittedly
void)" as he says on page 10 of his brief, and the appeal
should be dismissed.

In the event, however, that the Court decides to
review the evidence, it must be found that the evidence

preponderates in favor of the plaintiff and that the Court in the Third Judicial District Court committed no error in finding the facts in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendants and in awarding judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendants for the sum of \$1,410.00 with interest from the 19th day of January, 1962, together with attorneys fees in the sum of \$390.33 and costs in the sum of \$26.10.